IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA



SIERRA CLUB,

337

Petitioner

VS.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF ORANGE,

Respondent.

NOV 15 2017

COUNTY OF ORANGE, Real Party in Interest.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 3, NO. G044138

ORANGE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

Honorable James J. Di Cesare No. 30-2009-00121878-CU-WM-CJC

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Sabrina D. Venskus, SBN 219153 Venskus@lawsv.com Dean Wallraff, SBN 275908 DWallraff@lawsv.com Venskus & Associates, P.C.

21 South California Street, Suite 204

Ventura, California 93001 Telephone: (805) 641-0247 Facsimile: (213) 482-4246

ISSUES PRESENTED

As stated in the Petition for Review, the Issues Presented are as follows:

- 1. Geographic Information Systems (GIS) data is computer data consisting primarily of information referenced to specific geographic locations, such as the legal boundaries of the land parcels in a county. Does the Public Records Act's computer-software exclusion in section 6254.9 exempt non-software computer data, such as GIS data, from mandatory disclosure?
- 2. Does the constitutional requirement that a "statute ... shall be broadly construed if it furthers the people's right of access, and narrowly construed if it limits the right of access" (Cal. Const., Art. I, §3, subd. (b), par. (2)) require that section 6254.9's¹ computersoftware exclusion be limited to software only, since it limits the rights of access?

The Issue for Review as articulated in the Answer of Real Party in Interest County of Orange to Petition for Review (the "Answer")

¹ Section references are to the Government Code, unless otherwise specified.

is: "whether the California Public Records Act ("CPRA") requires a government agency to produce the database associated with a GIS in a GIS file format pursuant to Government Code section 6254.9 at the cost of duplication."

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Since the above are issues of statutory interpretation, the standard of review is de novo. (*CBS Broadcasting Inc. v. Superior Court* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 892, 906 ["[T]he interpretation of the PRA and its application to undisputed facts, present questions of law subject to de novo appellate review."].)

PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This petition arises from an action in the Superior Court of California, County of Orange, Sierra Club v. County of Orange, filed April 21, 2009, Case No. 0-2009-00121878-CU-WM-CJC, heard in Dept. C-18 of the Santa Ana courthouse by the Honorable James J. Di Cesare. Sierra Club was the petitioner in the action. Real Party in Interest, County of Orange, was respondent in the action. On August 3, 2010 the trial court denied the Sierra Club's petition for a writ of mandate. (5-PA-1347-62, [Stmt. of Dec.,].)

The Sierra Club timely filed its appeal to the Court of Appeal, Fourth District on August 27, 2010. The appeal took the form of a Petition for Extraordinary Writ ("Writ Pet."), as required by section 6259, subd. (c). A total of six Amici Curiae briefs were filed: five in support of Sierra Club and one in support of Orange County. After full briefing on the merits, on May 31, 2011, the Court of Appeal denied Sierra Club's Petition and issued a 21- page published Opinion. On July 12, 2011, Sierra Club filed a Petition for Review in this Court, which was granted on September 14, 2011.

INTRODUCTION

This case involves the question of whether government agencies may use § 6254.9 of the California Public Records Act ("PRA") to convert an electronic public record into a revenue-generating device. More specifically, the issue is whether or not the Legislature intended to make GIS-file formatted land parcel data, held by the government in computer files, subject to the PRA so that government agencies are required to disclose their land parcel data in an electronic file format requested by a member of the public, without requiring a fee and licensing agreement. Orange County has one of the largest stakes in the answer to this question, as it has long charged among the highest fees in the state for such information.

Here, Sierra Club requested, pursuant to the PRA, the entire collection of Orange County's land parcel data in GIS file format (referred to as the "OC Landbase") so that it can view and analyze the data using Sierra Club's own GIS software (not Orange County's). But according to Orange County, GIS formatted data is not subject to the PRA at all. Citing Government Code section 6254.9 (sometimes referred to herein as the "Software Provision") as its basis, Orange County contends it may refuse Sierra Club's PRA request because the requested data is "software" excluded from disclosure under the PRA.

The entire text of section 6254.9 is as follows:

- (a) Computer software developed by a state or local agency is not itself a public record under this chapter. The agency may sell, lease, or license the software for commercial or noncommercial use.
- (b) As used in this section, "computer software" includes computer mapping systems, computer programs, and computer graphics systems.
- (c) This section shall not be construed to create an implied warranty on the part of the State of California or any local agency for errors, omissions, or other defects in any computer software as provided pursuant to this section.
- (d) Nothing in this section is intended to affect the public record status of information merely because it is stored

in a computer. Public records stored in a computer shall be disclosed as required by this chapter.

(e) Nothing in this section is intended to limit any copyright protections.

Both parties agree the Software Provision expressly excludes computer software, as that term is commonly and ordinarily understood, from PRA disclosure requirements. Where the parties diverge is whether the Software Provision should be construed as also excluding from the PRA's reach a specific type of computer data, specifically GIS-file formatted data like the OC Landbase.

On this issue, the Court of Appeal (hereinafter referred to as "Fourth District") agrees with Orange County that GIS data is "software" as contemplated by the Software Provision and thus is not a "public record" and therefore need not be disclosed pursuant to the PRA's terms. The Fourth District concludes that GIS data is "part of" a "computer mapping system," as used in subd., (b), and therefore is, by extension, "computer software" in subd., (a), thus broadly construing "software" to mean both computer mapping "software," as well as any computer mapping "data" processed by the software. (Sierra Club v. Superior Court of Orange County (2011) previously published at 195 Cal.App.4th 1537 [125 Cal.Rptr.3d 913]; Slip Opinion, ("Opn.") attached to this brief as Exhibit A.)

Respectfully, the Fourth District, in denying Sierra Club's Petition, makes several errors in its analysis.

The Opinion turns away from the plain meaning of the term "software." In doing so, the Court gives a generous reading to a subset of software, "computer mapping systems," which the Court took to mean both "software" and "data." One unfortunate result of this reading of the statute is that it creates disharmony between section 6254.9 and another section of the PRA, section 6253.9. (*People v. Shirakow*, (1980) 26 Cal.3d 301, 307; *People v. Garcia*, (1999) 21 Cal. 4th 1,6.)

Further, instead of narrowly interpreting the Software Provision as the PRA and the California Constitution require, the Fourth Circuit does precisely the opposite, reading the public access-limiting statute expansively, thereby sweeping computer data into its exclusionary grasp. Instead of resolving any perceived ambiguity in the statute in favor of public's right to access government information, the Opinion accords excessive deference to the City of San Jose's subjective goals for the legislation, the sponsor of the bill that led to section 6254.9. At the same time, the Opinion discounts the bill's language as it evolved through legislative amendments, a review of which supports a finding that the Legislature in fact

intended what subdivision (d) of section 6254.9 makes perfectly clear- that computer software developed by a state or local agency would be exempted from the PRA, but that data related to the conduct of the public's business would remain a public record subject to disclosure in accordance with the PRA's terms.

Finally, the Fourth District's interpretation of the Software Provision conflicts with two published authorities supporting Sierra Club's position—a decision by the Sixth District Court of Appeal in 2009 and a 2005 Attorney General opinion, both of which support the contention that GIS data is subject to mandatory disclosure under the PRA. (County of Santa Clara v. Superior Court of Santa Clara County (2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 1301, 1334); 88 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 153, ["AG Opinion"].)

The Fourth District's Opinion, if left undisturbed, would allow state and local agencies to deny access to a large, and increasingly important, class of government held information. Neither the Legislature in enacting the PRA, nor the People of California in amending the California Constitution to elevate access to government information to civil right status, intended such a result.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

GIS is an acronym for "geographic information systems." GIS has been described as providing "a framework for gathering and organizing spatial data and related information so that it can be displayed and analyzed." (5-PA-1307, [ESRI, A to Z GIS, An Illustrated Dictionary of Geographic Information Systems (2006), p. 90].) GIS software processes GIS data so that the data can be viewed, manipulated and analyzed. (3-PA-527:23-31, [Declaration of Bruce Joffe, ("Joffe Decl.")]; 3-PA-537:8-11 [Declaration of Amanda Recinos, ("Recinos Decl.")].)

Orange County currently distributes the OC Landbase in a GIS file format to members of the public, if they pay a licensing fee and agree to the license's restrictions on disclosure and distribution.

(Opn. p. 4.) The OC Landbase in a GIS file format does not consist of, or contain computer software as defined by the American Heritage Dictionary. (5-PA-1083, [Stipulated Fact No. 20, ("The OC Landbase in the format the Sierra Club has requested, and in which it is currently distributed to OC Landbase licensees does not contain programs, routines and symbolic languages that control the functioning of computer hardware and direct its operation.")[emphasis added]; 5-PA-1315, [American Heritage Dict. (4th ed. 2004), p. 1652.].)

The Sierra Club made several PRA requests for a copy of the OC Landbase. (1-PA-16-17; 36-37; 52; 69-70; 5-PA-1086; 1106; 1116; 1121, [Exhibits to Stipulated Facts].)² Orange County denied the requests, citing, among other sections, the PRA's Software Provision, section 6254.9, (1-PA-46-47; 54-55; 72-73), offering instead to produce the paper records from which the OC Landbase is compiled, or PDF electronic copies. (Opn. p. 4.) Neither the paper records nor the pdf files can be displayed or analyzed by the Sierra Club's GIS software. (*Ibid.*)

The OC Landbase is used every day by Orange County officials to make important policy decisions. (GIS Needs Assessment Study, attached to Petitioner's Request for Judicial Notice ("Pet.RJN") as Exhibit 2, at OC-1215.) A "GIS Needs Assessment Study," recently conducted by an external consulting firm at the behest of Orange County, concluded that the OC Landbase is "the most essential data set in the county." (*Id.* at OC 1455.) It contains the reference data consulted whenever an OC Public Works employee needs to know the boundaries, location, ownership or other characteristics of a parcel of land in the county. (*Id.* at OC-1463.) The GIS Needs

² As noted in the Opinion, the parties stipulated to most of the relevant adjudicative facts. (Opn., p. 3.)

Assessment recommended rolling out the OC Landbase to be accessed "countywide." (*Ibid.*) Because of the OC Landbase's wide applicability and extensive use, it is one of the most important public records maintained by Orange County.

Despite the importance of the OC Landbase to government activity, Orange County restricts access to it unless members of the public are willing to pay hefty fees. For example, data for each parcel in GIS format sells for one dollar, although Orange County provides a discount to purchasers of more than 100,000 parcels. (2-PA-400, [Fee schedule for "Parcel Map Data" indicating 600,000 parcels for a fee of \$375,000.00].) Further, Orange County requires a non-disclosure agreement as part of the data's sale, so that the data cannot be passed on to others. (2-PA-394-99).

In contrast, the vast majority of California counties provide their GIS parcel data to the public free of charge or for a small fee covering the cost of copying the GIS data to a CD or DVD, with no non-disclosure agreement required. (3-PA-533-34, [Joffe Decl. ¶¶ 35-37].) Even the largest county in the state, Los Angeles County, provides all of its parcel data in GIS file format to the public for a copying fee of only \$6.00. (1-PA-110).

ARGUMENT

- I. SECTION 6254.9 EXCLUDES COMPUTER SOFTWARE FROM PUBLIC RECORD STATUS, BUT DOES NOT EXCLUDE COMPUTER DATA, SUCH AS THE GIS FILE-FORMATTED OC LANDBASE.
 - A. The PRA's Broad Disclosure Policy Favors Disclosure of the OC Landbase.

The fundamental goal of statutory interpretation is to ascertain legislative intent so that the purpose of the law may be effectuated. (People v. Cruz (1996) 13 Cal.4th 764, 774-775; Walnut Creek Manor v. Fair Employment & Housing Com. (1991) 54 Cal.3d 245, 268; Palos Verdes Faculty Ass'n. v. Palos Verdes Peninsula Unified School District (1978) 21 Cal.3d 650, 658).

Any interpretation of section 6254.9 must be viewed through the lens of the Legislature's declared intent in enacting the PRA: "[A]ccess to information concerning the conduct of the people's business is a fundamental and necessary right of every person in this state," (Section 6250). Courts have explained the import of this legislative declaration, "[b]y its own terms, the CPRA embodies a strong policy in favor of disclosure of public records," (*Lorig v. Medical Bd.* (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 462, 467), and therefore "all public records are subject to disclosure unless the Legislature has expressly

provided to the contrary." (Williams v. Superior Court (1993), 5 Cal.4th 337, 346.)

The Legislature intended to bring almost all government held information into the purview of the PRA as evidenced by the expansive definition of "public records," which means "any writing containing information relating to the conduct of the public's business prepared, owned, used, or retained by any state or local agency." (§ 6252, subd. (e).)³ As this Court has observed, "This definition is intended to cover every conceivable kind of record that is involved in the governmental process and will pertain to any new form of record-keeping instrument as it is developed." (*Commission on Peace Officer Standards & Training v. Superior Court* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 278, 288, fn. 3, internal quotations omitted.)

Thus, any government record, regardless of the manner in which the record has been stored, is a public record. Even

³ This is not to say that almost all government held information is required to be disclosed; indeed many categories of government held information are exempted from disclosure, but nonetheless maintain their "public records" status under the PRA.

information contained in a computer database qualifies as a writing under the PRA, and thus is a public record. (*Id.*)

The Legislature's adoption of such an expansive definition of "public record" has an important purpose: "Implicit in the democratic process is the notion that government should be accountable for its actions. In order to verify accountability, individuals must have access to government files." (*CBS v. Block* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 646, 651.) Thus broad disclosure of government information promotes participation in the democratic process and encourages citizens to make government accountable.

Therefore, the policy underlying the PRA favors a broad interpretation of the type of information that is subject to disclosure, and the default position is that nearly any information held by the government is a "public record" subject to disclosure. This policy favors disclosure of the OC Landbase.

B. "Computer Software" Is Clear And Unambiguous And Therefore The Court Should Give Effect To Its Usual And Customary Meaning

Courts are bound to give effect to statutes according to the "usual, ordinary import" of the language employed in framing them.

(Walnut Creek Manor v. Fair Employment & Housing Com. (1991) 54

Cal.3d 245, 268.) "[W]hen...the language of a statute is clear and

unambiguous, its meaning should generally be followed." (*Rhiner v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1993) 4 Cal. 4th 1213, 1226.) "Words used in a statute . . . should be given the meaning they bear <u>in ordinary use</u> [citations]." (*Lungren v. Deukmejian* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735, emphasis added.)

Moreover, "'[i]f the plain, commonsense meaning of a statute's words is unambiguous, *the plain meaning controls*." (*People v. King* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 617, 622, quoting *Fitch v. Select Products Co.* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 812, 818, emphasis added.)

Section 6254.9, subdivision (a) states: "Computer software developed by a state or local agency is not itself a public record under this chapter. The agency may sell, lease, or license the software for commercial or noncommercial use." The operative term in section 6254.9 is computer "software." (§ 6254.9, subd. (a).) This is a term that is clear and generally understood by the public at large. (See Lungren, supra, 45 Cal.3d at p. 735.) Thus, the term "computer software" has a plain, commonsense meaning. (See King, supra, 38 Cal.4th at p. 622.) Most people have used computer software in their lives and equate computer "software" with computer "programs," such as Microsoft Word or iTunes.

To further illustrate the point, mainstream dictionary definitions define computer "software" and computer "programs" similarly. (See, e.g., Cory v. Board of Administration (1997) 57

Cal. App. 4th 1411, 1419-20 [using dictionary definition to determine plain meaning].) For example, the American Heritage Dictionary defines computer "software" as "the programs, routines, and symbolic languages that control the functioning of the hardware and direct its operation," and computer "programs" as "a set of coded instructions that enables a machine, especially a computer, to perform a desired sequence of operations." (5-PA-1315 and Exhibit 5 to Pet.RJN, respectively, [American Heritage Dict. (4th ed. 2006)].)

Neither of these definitions so much as mention electronically formatted data, and for good reason, since data upon which software operates cannot simultaneously be software too. (See 88 Ops. Cal. Att'y Gen. 153, 159 [describing software and data].)

⁴ The Opinion suggests that Sierra Club "rel[ies] heavily" upon dictionary definitions, (Opn., p.7), but then uses a dictionary definition of "system" for the proposition that the term "computer mapping system" should include more than a computer program component. (Ibid., p.8.)

Thus, the plain meaning of the subject term "software" in subdivision (a) is commonly understood to be distinct from the data upon which the software operates. (*Reid v. Google, Inc.*, (2010) 50 Cal.4th 512, 527.) Subdivision, (d), which states, "nothing in this section" is intended to "affect the public record status of information merely because it is stored in a computer," recognizes this distinction. Plainly read, then, section 6254.9 unambiguously excepts computer software from public record status, but not computer data

This Court's decisions have held that dictionary definitions play an integral part in ascertaining the meaning of statutory language. (See Goodman v. Lozano (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1327, 1333-1334, citing Wasatch Property Management v. Degrate (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1111, 1121-1122 ["When attempting to ascertain the ordinary, usual meaning of a word, courts appropriately refer to the dictionary definition of that word."].)

The Fourth District gives short shrift to the plain meaning of "software," (Op., at pp. 8-13), and instead resorts to legislative history to investigate the meaning of the term "computer mapping systems" contained in subd., (b). (Opn., p. 8 ["We turn first to section 6254.9's legislative history"]; Opn., p. 17 ["We have construed section 6254.9 as narrowly as is possible consistent with its legislative

history"]; Opn., p. 17 [distinguishing Attorney General Opinion for failing to examine legislative history.]) Its primary reliance on legislative history is misplaced because when statutory language is clear and unambiguous, resort to legislative history is neither appropriate nor justified. (*People v. Boyd* (1979) 24 Cal.3d 285, 295 [holding that even though the parties' differing interpretations of the legislative history were equally rational to give rise to conflicting inferences regarding statutory construction, departing from the plain language was not justified because of it].)

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