S194708

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT FILED

SIERRA CLUB,

DEC 1 5 2011

Petitioner

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clark

Doputy

VS.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF ORANGE,

, Respondent.

COUNTY OF ORANGE,

Real Party in Interest.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal
Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G044138
(195 Cal.App.4th 1537, 125 Cal.Rptr.3d 913)
Denying A Petition for An Extraordinary Writ To The Superior Court
For the County of Orange, Case No. 30-2009-00121878
Honorable James J. Di Cesare, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NICHOLAS S. CHRISOS, COUNTY COUNSEL Mark D. Servino, Deputy (SBN 186941)

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

. . .

Many reasons could explain the Legislature's failure to consider the bills further, including the press of other business, political considerations, or a tendency, at least in the short run, to trust the courts to correct their own errors. [internal cites omitted] The Legislature's mere inaction on two hastily presented bills cannot foreclose this court from examining, in the normal course, the Ralphs Grocery decision and the issues it addressed. Plaintiff's claim of legislative acquiescence must be rejected.

(*Prachasaisoradej v. Ralphs Grocery Co., Inc., supra*, 42 Cal.4th at pp. 243-244; see also *Olson v. Automobile Club of Southern Cal.* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1142, 1156 [no legislative acquiescence unless there exists both a well-developed body of law interpreting a statutory provision and numerous amendments to a statute without altering the interpreted provision].)

Here, the Sierra Club argues based on the doctrine of legislative acquiescence that the Legislature's failure to amend Section 6254.9 in

response to the 2005 AG Opinion demonstrates that Legislature acquiesced in the interpretation of Section 6254.9, subdivision (b), contained therein. (OB, p. 49.) However, the 2005 AG Opinion is not a binding published appellate decision. Also, the mere passage of four years from the issuance of the 2005 AG Opinion to the initiation of the present lawsuit in 2009 hardly constitutes a long period of uniform judicial or administrative treatment of Section 6254.9's computer mapping system exemption.

In contrast, over seventeen years passed between the adoption of Section 6254.9 in 1988 and the issuance of 2005 AG Opinion. The Sierra Club itself claimed that prior to the 2005 AG Opinion, at least 19 counties charged fees for the production of GIS data in a GIS file format. (3 PA 533-534.) The Legislature itself observed in 1997 that "[p]ublic agency policies for pricing the [GIS] data range from covering the cost of data duplication, to recouping the costs from compilation and maintenance of the data bases." (County RJN, Ex. 1, Assem. Bill. No. 1293, *supra*, § 1, subd. (m).) Thus, to the extent that legislative acquiescence is applicable in this case, it would more strongly support the conclusion that the Legislature acquiesced in the construction of Section 6254.9's exemption for computer mapping systems by at least 19 counties prior to the 2005 AG Opinion for a period of over seventeen years.

B. The Legislature's Passage of AB 1293 In 1997 Assumed That Data In A GIS File Format Is Exempt From Disclosure

The Sierra Club cites the introduction of AB 1978 in 2008, which would have amended Section 6254.9. (OB, pp.49-50.) However, as noted in *Prachasaisoradej v. Ralphs Grocery Co., Inc., supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 243, the failure of a bill to reach the chamber floor is not determinative of

the intent of the chamber as a whole that the proposed legislation should fail. In contrast, as noted by the Court of Appeal below, the Legislature adopted AB 1293 in 1997, which is less than ten years after the adoption of Section 6254.9, and the bill would have become law if it had not been vetoed. (Slip. Op., p. 19; *City of Richmond v. Commission on State Mandates* (1998) 64 Cal.App.4th 1190, 1199 [bill passed by Legislature but vetoed by Governor was cognizable and relevant history]; County RJN, Ex. 1, Assem. Bill No. 1293 (1997-1998 Reg. Sess.).)

AB 1293 would have established state funding through grants "for the development of new, and maintenance of, framework data bases for geographic information systems." (County RJN, Ex. 1, Legis. Counsel's Dig. Assem. Bill No. 1293, supra, p. 2) The Legislature recognized "the high cost of creating and maintaining geographic information data bases," and observed that "[p]ublic agency policies for pricing the data range from covering the cost of data duplication, to recouping the costs from compilation and maintenance of the data bases." (County RJN, Ex. 1, Assem. Bill. No. 1293, *supra*, § 1, subd. (m).) The Legislature expressly intended "to provide an alternative source of funds for public agencies to create and maintain geographic information data bases without having to sell the public data." (County RJN, Ex. 1, Assem. Bill No. 1293, supra, § 1, subd. (n).) Significantly, the proposed legislation defined "Geographic information system' as 'an organized collection of computer hardware, software, geographic information, and personnel designed to efficiently capture, store, update, manipulate, analyze, and display all forms of geographically referenced information." (Slip. Op., pp. 19-20; County RJN, Ex. 1, Assem. Bill No. 1293, § 2 (1997-1998 Reg. Sess.); Proposed Gov.Code, § 8302, subd. (f).) The proposed legislation would have

required "any recipient of a grant [to] make data developed or maintained with grant funds available to disclosure under the [Act] and require that the electronic data . . . be placed in the public domain free of any restriction on use or copy." (Slip. Op., pp. 19-20; County RJN, Ex. 1, Assem. Bill No. 1293, supra, § 2; Proposed Gov. Code, § 8306, subd. (a)(7).) This statutory quid pro quo would have been unnecessary if the Legislature believed that public agencies were already required to produce data in a GIS file format in response to a PRA request.

Under the analytical approach advocated by the Sierra Club, the actions of the Legislature in adopting AB 1293 speak far louder in supporting the County's position, than the Sierra Club's reliance on legislative silence and bills that never emerged out of committee. (OB, pp. 48-50.)

V. SECTION 6253.9 DOES NOT REQUIRE DISCLOSURE OF RECORDS THAT ARE EXEMPT UNDER SECTION 6254.9

Section 6253.9, subdivision (a), expressly states that it only applies to "information that constitutes an identifiable public record *not exempt* from disclosure pursuant to this chapter." (§ 6253.9(a).) Section 6253.9, subdivision (g), further provides that "[n]othing in this section shall be construed to permit public access to records held by any agency to which access is otherwise prohibited by statute."

Here, the Sierra Club states with respect to the above referenced provisions of Section 6253.9 that "ultimately, depending on how one reads § 6254.9, either the GIS data requested by Sierra Club is excluded from public record status or it is not." (OB, p. 31.) The County agrees. The OC Landbase in GIS file format is either exempt under Section 6254.9 or it is

not. Thus, under the Sierra Club's own proposed analytical framework, Section 6253.9 is irrelevant to the interpretation of Section 6254.9's computer mapping system exemption, because Section 6253.9 does not require access to exempt records. (§ 6253.9(a), (g).)

VI. PROPOSITION 59 DOES NOT ABROGATE EXISTING DISCLOSURE EXEMPTIONS; RATHER, IT CODIFIED EXISTING LAW THAT EXEMPTIONS MUST BE NARROWLY CONSTRUED

A. Proposition 59 Expressly Preserves Existing Exemptions

Proposition 59 states that a "statute, court rule, or other authority, including those in effect on the effective date of this subdivision, shall be broadly construed if it furthers the peoples right of access, and narrowly construed if it limits the right of access." (Cal. Const., art I, § 3(b)(2).) However, Proposition 59 does not abrogate any existing exceptions to disclosure:

This subdivision does not repeal or nullify, expressly or by implication, any constitutional or statutory exception to the right of access to public records or meetings of public bodies that is in effect on the effective date of this subdivision, including, but not limited to, any statute protecting the confidentiality of law enforcement and prosecution records.

(Cal. Const., art I, § 3(b)(5).) Thus, the plain language of Proposition 59 makes clear that it does not alter any preexisting constitutional or statutory exceptions to access. (Cal. Const., art I, § 3(b)(5).)

Instead, Proposition 59 operates to constitutionally adopt the preexisting rule that exceptions to disclosure must be narrowly construed. (See Sutter's Place Inc. v. Superior Court (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 1370, 1382 ["Proposition 59 is simply a constitutionalization of the CPRA."]; see also, e.g., Times Mirror Co. v. Superior Court, supra, 53 Cal.3d at p. 1351 [exemptions under the PRA are to be narrowly construed]; California State University v. Superior Court (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 810, 831; City of Hemet v. Superior Court (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 1411, 1425; Rogers v. Superior Court (1993) 19 Cal.App.4th 469, 476.)

This Court should reject the Sierra Club's argument that Proposition 59 somehow requires this Court to reverse the Court of Appeal's decision below. (OB, pp. 59-64.) The plain language of Proposition 59 makes clear that it "does not repeal or nullify, expressly or by implication, any constitutional or statutory exception to the right of access to public records ... that is in effect on the effective date of this subdivision ..." (Cal. Const., art I, § 3(b)(5).) Section 6254.9 was in effect and unchanged for over decade prior to the adoption of Proposition 59. (Chapter 447, Statutes of 1988.) Thus, Section 6254.9 remains good law following Proposition 59's adoption.

B. Proposition 59 Does Not Alter Well-Established Rules Of Statutory Interpretation

It is well-established that "[a] mandate to construe a statute liberally in light of its underlying remedial purpose does not mean that courts can impose on the statute a construction not reasonably supported by the statutory language." (Meyer v. Sprint Spectrum L.P. (2009) 45 Cal.4th 634, 645; see also Southern Cal. Gas Co. v. South Coast Air Quality

Management Dist. (2011) 200 Cal.App.4th 251, 268 ["Nor can we, in construing a remedial statute liberally, apply it in a manner not reasonably supported by its statutory language."].)

Here, it is unclear what the Sierra Club is proposing when it argues "[t]hat the right of access to government information is now a civil right in California suggests a greater significance should be given to it when construing statutes related to information access such as the PRA, and that

the judiciary should apply the constitutional requirement to interpret such statutes at the inception of the statutory interpretation exercise." (OB, p. 61.) However, to the extent the Sierra Club is suggesting that this Court should abandon long-established rules of statutory construction, this Court should decline this invitation. (See *Reid v. Google, Inc.* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 512, 527 ["Under settled canons of statutory construction, in construing a statute we ascertain the Legislature's intent in order to effectuate the law's purpose."].)

Nothing in the language of Proposition 59 requires a departure from well-established rules of statutory construction. (See Cal. Const., art I, § 3(b).) Indeed, construing Proposition 59 to require the application of a new interpretive jurisprudence would conflict with Proposition 59's mandate that it "does not repeal or nullify, expressly or by implication, any constitutional or statutory exception to the right of access to public records ... that is in effect on the effective date of this subdivision ..." (Cal. Const., art I, § 3(b)(5).)

Accepting the Sierra Club's suggestion that different rules of statutory construction now apply in PRA cases by virtue of Proposition 59 invites great uncertainty. The fundamental rule of statutory construction that courts must ascertain the intent of the Legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the law remains unchanged following the adoption of Proposition 59. (See *DuBois v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 382, 387 ["A fundamental rule of statutory construction is that a court should ascertain the intent of the Legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the law."].)

VII. THE SIERRA CLUB'S RELIANCE ON THE COURT OF APPEAL DECISION IN SANTA CLARA AND A CALIFORNIA ATTORNEY GENERAL OPINION IS MISPLACED

A. The Court of Appeal Correctly Declined To Follow The California Attorney General Opinion Relied Upon By The Sierra Club

The Sierra Club relies on a 2005 Attorney General Opinion (AG Opinion) that was prepared long after Section 6254.9's adoption in 1988. (OB, pp. 56-58.) Although the opinions of the Attorney General are entitled to considerable weight, they are not binding upon the judiciary. (City of Long Beach v. Dept. of Industrial Relations (2004) 34 Cal.4th 942, 952 [court declined to adopt analysis contained in Attorney General's opinion].) None of the cases or dictionary references cited in the AG Opinion specifically interpreted Section 6254.9. Thus, this Court should decline to adopt the reasoning of the 2005 AG Opinion because its analysis of Section 6254.9 violates the basic goal of statutory interpretation, which is to ascertain the intent of the Legislature.

First, the AG Opinion ignores the plain language of Section 6254.9, which defines "computer software" "[a]s used in this section" to include "computer mapping systems." (Emphasis added.) Instead, as the Sierra Club does in this case, the AG Opinion relied on external definitions of "computer software" that do not purport to define this term as used in Section 6254.9. (See 88 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 153 at p. 14.) In so doing, the AG Opinion created an artificial distinction between a computer mapping system's "data" and "software" that is not contained in the statute, thus "violating the rule that courts should not add to or alter [the words of a statute] to accomplish a purpose that does not appear on the face of the statute or from its legislative history." (Estate of Kramme (1978) 20 Cal.3d 567, 572.)

Second, as discussed above, the AG Opinion renders the term "computer mapping system" entirely superfluous. The AG Opinion states that computer mapping system "denotes unique computer programs to process such data using mapping functions -- original programs that have been designed and produced by a public agency." (88 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 153 at p. 14.) However, Section 6254.9, subdivision (b), already contains a separate reference to "computer programs." If "computer mapping systems" are merely a type of "computer program," then the term "computer mapping system" becomes entirely superfluous.

Third, as discussed *supra* at page 36, the portion of the AG Opinion quoted by the Sierra Club relies on Government Code section 51010.5. However, instead of drawing a distinction between the data and software in a GIS mapping system, as asserted by the Sierra Club, Section 51010.5 and related statutes confirm that a GIS mapping system is a type of database, which includes the data stored therein. This statutory treatment of the term "GIS mapping system" directly contradicts the Sierra Club's arguments that a computer mapping system is not a specific type of database. (OB, pp. 39-40.)

B. The Court of Appeal in Santa Clara Expressly Declined To Rule On The Computer Mapping System Exemption

"[C]ases are not authority for propositions not considered." (Silverbrand v. County of Los Angeles (2009) 46 Cal.4th 106, 127.) The Sierra Club cites the decision in County of Santa Clara v. Superior Court (CFAC), which concerned whether the designation of Santa Clara's GIS basemap as protected critical infrastructure information (PCII) pursuant to the Critical Infrastructure Information Act of 2002 (CII Act) precluded the disclosure of basemap. (County of Santa Clara v. Superior Court (2009)

170 Cal.App.4th 1301.) Santa Clara further argued that withholding the GIS Basemap was necessary to help prevent a terrorist attack. (*Id.* at p. 1328.)

An *amici curiae* in the *Santa Clara* decision attempted to address Section 6254.9's computer mapping system exemption. (*Id.* at p. 1312, fn. 4 and p. 1322, fn. 7; 2 PA 416-444.) However, the court of appeal expressly declined to consider the exemption at issue in this case:

In this court, by contrast, the County's *amici curiae* urge an additional exemption, based on section 6254.9, which [Santa Clara] County argued unsuccessfully below. Under that section, computer software—defined to include *computer mapping systems*—is not treated as a public record. (§ 6254.9, subds. (a), (b).)

Since the point is raised only by *amici curiae*, we need not and do not consider it. "Amici curiae must take the case as they find it. Interjecting new issues at this point is inappropriate." [cites omitted] We therefore decline to address the exemption issue raised solely by the County's *amici curiae* here.

(*Id.* at p. 1322, fn. 7 [emphasis added].) Unlike Santa Clara County, Real Party's arguments in the instant case are not based on national security or the CII Act, but on the computer mapping system exemption.

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